THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 12 2016

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY  
Court Of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable W. Haigh Porter, Special Referee

Case No: 2015-CP-33-280  
Appellate Case No.: 2016-000956

PARTNERS 95, LLC and HSGCHG Investments, LLC ..... Respondents,

v.

Riverdale Funding, LLC and Woodbridge  
Mortgage Investment Fund 3, LLC ..... Appellants.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

Amy L.B. Hill, SC Bar # 68541  
Laura W. Jordan, SC Bar # 100374  
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.  
PO Box 7368  
Columbia, SC 29202  
ahill@gwblawfirm.com  
ljordan@gwblawfirm.com  
(803) 779-1833 Office  
(803) 779-1767 Fax

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE SPECIAL REFEREE ABUSE HIS DISCRETION BY COMMITTING AN ERROR OF LAW AND MAKING FACTUAL FINDINGS WITHOUT EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT DUE TO PARTNERS 95'S *PRIMA FACIE* FAILURE TO PLEAD OR PROVE ACTUAL DAMAGES?
- II. UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW, DID PARTNERS 95 FAIL TO PLEAD OR PROVE PUNITIVE DAMAGES, AND DID THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERR BY FAILING TO REQUIRE THE PROOF REQUIREMENTS MANDATED BY *MITCHELL, JR. V. FORTIS INS. CO.*?
- III. DOES THE PUNITIVE DAMAGES AWARD OF THE JUDGMENT VIOLATE LENDERS' 14TH AMENDMENT RIGHTS?
- IV. DID THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERR BY FAILING TO APPORTION THE PUNITIVE DAMAGES AWARD BETWEEN RIVERDALE AND WOODBRIDGE IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 3 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION?

## STATEMENT OF CASE

This matter arises out of a claim by Partners 95, LLC and HSGCHG Investments, LLC (collectively, “Partners 95”) that they were damaged when lenders Riverdale Funding, LLC (“Riverdale”) and Woodbridge Mortgage Investment Fund 3, LLC (“Woodbridge”)(collectively, “Lenders”) did not fund a proposed loan set forth in a loan commitment letter between Partners 95 and Lenders. Partners 95 claim that they were forced to seek other funding and thus incurred damages in the course of preparing for the closing on the property they ultimately purchased for less cost with the help of a subsequent lender. Partners 95 brought a Complaint with the following causes of action<sup>1</sup>: 1) Breach of Contract, 2) Breach of Contract Accompanied by a Fraudulent Act, 3) Failure to Honor a Promise to Lend, 4) Fraud, and 5) Violation of South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (the “Complaint”).

The Complaint was filed on March 17, 2015 in Marion County and subsequently referred on August 6, 2015 to The Honorable W. Haigh Porter as Special Referee for Marion County, South Carolina. On May 6, 2015, Partners 95 filed an Affidavit of Default against Lenders. On October 29, 2015, Lenders filed a Motion to Set Aside the Default Pursuant to Rule 55(c), SCRPC. The Special Referee held a hearing on Lenders’ Motion but ultimately upheld the Default in an Order signed on December 22, 2015.

On February 8, 2016, the Special Referee held a hearing to determine the amount of damages to be awarded, if any. Because Lenders were in default, they were prohibited from presenting evidence and were limited to cross-examining and objecting to the evidence put forth by Partners 95, who provided only two witnesses: Michael W. Tighe,

---

<sup>1</sup> Partners 95 did not specifically name their causes of action in the Complaint, but based on the allegations, Lenders have surmised that these are the intended causes of action.

Partners 95's closing attorney, and Robert D. Hartmann, the majority owner of Partners 95. *Howard v. Holiday Inns, Inc.*, 271 S.C. 238, 241-42, 246 S.E.2d 880, 882 (1978). Shortly thereafter, at the Special Referee's request, Partners 95 submitted a summary of the amount and category of damages sought, and the parties exchanged memoranda addressing the damages and arguments presented by Partners 95. On April 7, 2016, the Special Referee entered a Form 4 Order, accompanied by a written Order (ending action), awarding Partners 95 actual damages in the amount of \$38,184.20 and punitive damages in the amount of \$35,000.00 for a total judgment of \$73,184.20 (the "Judgment Order"). The Judgment Order, dated April 7, 2016, was received by Partners 95 on April 11, 2016.

On April 20, 2016, Lenders timely filed an Emergency Motion For Stay Pursuant to Rule 62, SCRCF and for Alternate Forms of Relief Pursuant to Rules 52, 59 and 60, SCRCF requesting that the Special Referee alter, amend, reconsider, vacate, or set aside the Judgment Order and relieve Lenders from the actual and punitive damages adjudged and decreed therein. Lenders also moved, pursuant to Rule 62(b), SCRCF, for an emergency stay of the execution of, or any proceedings to enforce, the Judgment Order. By Order dated April 26, 2016 and filed May 2, 2016, the Special Referee denied Lenders' post-judgment motions. On May 3, 2016, Lenders received written notice of entry of the order denying their post-judgment motions, and timely filed a Notice of Appeal on May 6, 2016. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

As stated above, this matter arises from a proposed lending relationship between Partners 95 and Lenders. Because Lenders were held in default, Partners 95 are bound by the facts as pled in the Complaint for purposes of determining damages. *Mutual Sav. & Loan Asso. v. McKenzie*, 274 S.C. 630, 632-33, 266 S.E.2d 423, 424-425 (1980). As a result, Lenders, in setting forth the Statement of Facts, will distinguish between facts pled in the Complaint and those submitted as evidence at the damages hearing before Special Referee Porter.

### *Facts Pled in the Complaint*

Partners 95 and HSGCHG Investments, LLC are both limited liability companies who, as potential borrowers, were engaged in a contractual relationship that was to culminate in a loan transaction to be performed in and secured by real property. (R. p. 34, ¶ 5). Riverdale agreed in a Loan Commitment Letter dated December 9, 2014 (“Commitment”) to lend Partners 95 the sum of \$1,900,000 at a rate of 12% per annum for the acquisition of a particular piece of property located in Marion County, South Carolina (“Property”) and the loan would be secured by a mortgage on the Property. (R. pp. 34-35, ¶¶ 7, 8, 10). As a part of this Commitment, Partners 95 would pay a commitment fee of \$114,000, of which \$19,000 was paid in advance. (R. p. 35, ¶ 9). The Commitment was not executed. (R. p. 35, ¶ 12). Although the Commitment included in its terms that the loan would close on or before January 12, 2015, the parties knew at the time of the Commitment that Partners 95 had to close the Loan and purchase the Property no later than December 31, 2014 to avoid a significant price increase. (R. p. 35, ¶ 11).

Prior to closing, Riverdale transferred and assigned the Commitment to Woodbridge, which was to be the owner and holder of the promissory note, mortgage and other loan documents. (R. p. 35, ¶ 14). The Complaint alleges that upon information and belief, Woodbridge is a related entity of Riverdale and shares common ownership. (R. p. 35, ¶ 15). Lenders, by and through their counsel, refused to allow Partners 95 to sign the documents via an e-mail dated December 30, 2014 at 12:07pm. (R. p. 36, ¶ 19). Partners 95 allege no response was received when Partners 95's counsel inquired as to why the closing was canceled. (R. p. 36, ¶¶ 20, 21).

Partners 95 allege that even though they ultimately found another source of funding to purchase the Property, they have suffered damages as a result of Lenders' unexplained and bad faith refusal to fund the Loan and honor the Commitment including, but not limited to, fees related to brokers price opinions, appraisal costs, attorneys' fees, liability insurance premiums and further expense related to signage that was time dependent on the closing of the transaction. (R. p. 36, ¶ 23). Partners 95 further allege that they are "informed and believe" that Lenders had a fraudulent intent in breaching the Commitment based on the Lenders' behavior leading up to the breach including "negotiation of the terms in loan documents, correspondence between counsel, and [Lenders'] failure to communicate with Partners 95's counsel after 12:07 on the day of Closing." (R. p. 37, ¶ 31). Partners 95 also allege that "upon information and belief" Lenders made false representations that they would loan Partners 95 funds for the acquisition and development of the Property, and that they are "informed and believe" there were no outstanding contingencies for the Commitment. (R. pp. 37-39, ¶¶ 32, 41, and 43).

**Facts Submitted for the First Time at the Damages Hearing**

Partners 95 hoped to purchase the Property from the seller Wells Fargo for \$1,000,000, but in order to honor this price, Wells Fargo insisted that the property be purchased by December 31, 2014. (R. p. 144, lines 11-18). Partners 95 claimed that the purchase price would increase \$300,000 if not closed by December 31, 2014. (R. p. 144, lines 19-21). However, ultimately, Partners 95 were able to purchase the Property for the original \$1,000,000 purchase price by acquiring a loan from another lender, Avatar, and negotiating an additional 30 days to close the deal. (R. p. 151, lines 2-7, pp. 170-171, 212).

Although the Commitment was not attached to the Complaint or initially offered into evidence, it was ultimately offered by Partners 95 as Exhibit 13 at the hearing. The Commitment contained numerous instances where Lenders in their “sole discretion” could determine if the information provided by Partners 95 was sufficient to lend the requested funds. (R. pp. 264-273).

One of the many contingencies listed in the Commitment, which was required by Lenders to lend the money to Partners 95, included the specific contingency that the “Borrower accept[] this Commitment on or before December 12, 2014 by signing and returning the enclosed copy of this letter to Lender with the applicable fees.” (R. pp. 264-273).

Partners 95 claim that they paid an additional \$10,000 in legal fees for the legal work to prepare for the original closing to be funded by Woodbridge. (R. p. 152, lines 9-24). Partners 95 claimed there were other fees that they had to pay, such as ordering appraisals for the loan with Lenders that were not required by their ultimate lender Avatar

(R. pp. 154-155), and insurance required by Lenders but not by Avatar (R. p. 156, lines 8-14).

Additionally, Partners 95 claimed there were expenses incurred that were required by Avatar that were not required by Lenders such as title abstract work for a piece of collateral property required by Avatar. (R. p. 156).

Partners 95 also introduced evidence relating to the sign, for which they claimed to have paid more because they were not able to close the loan with Lenders. (R. pp. 188-189, p. 190 lines 1-14). However, Partners 95 admitted that they used a different sign company at a higher price in order to meet their own internal deadline. (R. pp. 210-211). Further, there was no evidence presented as to what the original sign price would have been if Partners 95 had used new poles for the sign, as was ultimately required by an engineer's report. (R. pp. 247-256, p. 217, lines 15-21; pp. 219-220). Some portion of the sign was down at the time of the hearing. (*Id.*). Finally, there was no evidence presented that this sign situation was made known to Lenders.

Through testimony, though, it became evident that Partners 95 ultimately received a more favorable loan to purchase the subject property than they would have received from Lenders. The Avatar Loan was in the amount of \$2,000,000 with an interest rate of 8.99% for the first six months and 9.99% thereafter. (R. p. 170, line 3; p. 171, line 4; p. 212).

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION BY COMMITTING AN ERROR OF LAW AND MAKING FACTUAL FINDINGS WITHOUT EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT DUE TO PARTNERS 95'S *PRIMA FACIE* FAILURE TO PLEAD OR PROVE ACTUAL DAMAGES.

#### A. Standard of Review

“An abuse of discretion in setting aside a default judgment occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *Roberson v. S. Fin. of S. Carolina, Inc.*, 365 S.C. 6, 9, 615 S.E.2d 112, 114 (2005) (vacating a default judgment on the ground of improper service) (quoting *In re Estate of Weeks*, 329 S.C. 251, 259, 495 S.E.2d 454, 459 (Ct. App. 1997)). “The decision whether to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment lies solely within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *Id.*<sup>2</sup> When reviewing the lower court’s damages award, this Court’s “task in reviewing a damages award is not to weigh the evidence, but to determine if there is any evidence to support the damages award.” *Austin v. Specialty Transp. Servs., Inc.*, 358 S.C. 298, 310-11, 594 S.E.2d 867, 873 (Ct. App. 2004). If the Special Referee’s decision was controlled by an error of law or there is no evidentiary basis for his factual conclusions, the Special Referee abused his discretion, and this Court should reverse.

---

<sup>2</sup> The Special Referee’s Judgment Order has the same effect as an order rendered by the circuit court, and he has authority to address post-judgment motions like the ones filed in this case. *Wachovia Bank of S.C., N.A. v. Player*, 341 S.C. 424, 427, 535 S.E.2d 128, 129 (2000) (“The proper construction of the order of reference is that it gives the master jurisdiction over the case and all matters arising from it until the master has performed all the duties assigned to him . . . . Moreover, it makes common sense to permit the judge in whose court the matter is pending to decide the merits of any Rule 60 motion.”). Orders issued by the Special Referee can be appealed directly to this Court without returning to the circuit court. *See* R. p. 1; S.C. Code Ann. § 14-11-85 (Supp. 2014); Rule 53, SCRCF.

**B. Partners 95 Failed To Plead Entitlement To Actual Damages.**

A defaulting defendant has not “concede[d] the [a]mount of liability” simply because the issue of liability has been settled. *Solley v. Navy Fed. Credit Union, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 192, 203, 723 S.E.2d 597, 603 (Ct. App. 2012) (holding while a defaulting defendant has conceded liability, he “does not concede the [a]mount of liability” (alteration by court) (quoting *Howard v. Holiday Inns, Inc.*, 271 S.C. 238, 242, 246 S.E.2d 880, 882 (1978))); *Ammons v. Hood*, 288 S.C. 278, 282, 341 S.E.2d 816, 818 (Ct. App. 1986) (“In a default action, the default judgment settles the issue of liability.”). See also *St. Stephen Family Dentistry, LLC v. Gregg*, No. 2016-UP-254, 2016 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 310, at \*1 (S.C. Ct. App. June 8, 2016) (citing *Solley and Ammons* when considering “whether or not the record contains evidentiary support for an award of damages against [a defaulting party].”).

A party seeking a default judgment is entitled only to such relief as is framed by its pleading, and then only to the extent requested therein. *McKenzie*, 274 S.C. 630, 632-33, 266 S.E.2d 423, 424-25 (1980)(referencing cases collected in 12 West's South Carolina Digest, Judgment, at Key Number 117 and § 15-35-70, Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976)). “It follows that if a complaint fails to state a cause of action, the rendering of a default judgment thereon is without authority of law and therefore reversible error.” *Id.* (citing *Gadsden v. Home Fertilizer and Chemical Co.*, 89 S.C. 483, 72 S.E. 15 (1911) & *Williams v. American Ry. Express Co.*, 118 S.C. 121, 110 S.E. 125 (1921)).

Default, therefore, does not preclude a defendant from challenging the sufficiency of the complaint allegations as a basis for the judgment entered in this case, *id.*, because

“[a]n objection that the complaint does not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action is not waived by a default.” *Masters v. Rodgers Dev. Grp.*, 283 S.C. 251, 254, 321 S.E.2d 194, 196 (Ct. App. 1984). A default is not an admission that the facts pled are sufficient to constitute a cause of action. *Gadsden*, 89 S.C. 483, 72 S.W. 15 (1911). Similarly, a default does not admit an allegation that is a mere conclusion of law. *Id.* Indeed, even “[a] defendant who is in default for failure to answer has the right to assume that the judgment will be limited to the cause of action stated in the complaint[, and if] the complaint states facts which entitled the plaintiff only to a certain kind of relief, or to relief only to a certain extent, a judgment by default giving a different kind of relief, or relief to a greater extent, is without authority of law and cannot be sustained.” *Blakely v. Wright*, 269 S.C. 6, 11-12, 235 S.E.2d 803, 806 (1977).

As outlined below, the Judgment Order must be reversed because the Special Referee’s award of actual damages exceeds the relief supported by Partners 95’s Complaint, which was filed on March 17, 2015 and never amended.

**i. The Special Referee awarded actual damages only on one of Partners 95’s causes of action – breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act.**

As an initial matter, it is important to note that the Special Referee awarded actual damages on only *one* of the five causes of action pled by Partners 95 in their Complaint: Breach of Contract Accompanied by a Fraudulent Act. (R. p. 17, Section II) (“Plaintiff’s Damages on Breach of Contract Accompanied by a Fraudulent Act”). Partners 95 did not challenge, request clarification regarding, nor raise objection to the Special Referee’s decision to award actual damages on only this one claim, and it is the law of the case. *Erickson v. Jones St. Publr., LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 476, 629 S.E.2d 653, 670 (2006)(“We

do not revisit the issue in this case because no party objected to use of the negligence standard; therefore, it is the law of the case”); *Charleston Lumber Co. v. Miller Housing Corp.*, 338 S.C. 171, 175, 525 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2000) (unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance).

The salient question, therefore, is whether Partners 95’s Complaint stated a breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act claim upon which relief could be granted. As outlined below, it did not, and the Special Referee’s “rendering of a default judgment thereon is without authority of law and therefore reversible error.” *McKenzie*, 274 S.C. at 632-33, 266 S.E.2d at 424-25.

**ii. Partners 95 failed to state a claim for breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act because the Complaint alleges the Commitment was not signed.**

A cognizable claim for breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act requires, at a minimum, the following allegations: (1) a breach of contract; (2) fraudulent intent relating to the breaching of the contract and not merely to its making; and (3) a fraudulent act accompanying the breach. *Floyd v. Country Squire Mobile Homes, Inc.*, 287 S.C. 51, 53-54, 336 S.E.2d 502, 503-04 (Ct. App. 1985). It is axiomatic that the very foundation of this cause of action is *a contract* that could be breached in the first instance.

The law is clear that under both the South Carolina common law statute of frauds and the Lender Liability Statute of Frauds, a promise to make a loan must be signed in writing. See S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-107(1)(a)-(c)(providing in relevant part that no person may maintain an action to lend or borrow money or for failure to perform an alleged promise or agreement to loan money in excess of \$50,000 unless the party

bringing the action “has received a writing from the party to be charged containing the material terms and conditions of the promise, undertaking, accepted offer, commitment, or agreement and the party to be charged, or its duly authorized agent, has signed the writing”); *see also Sea Cove Dev., LLC v. Harbourside Cmty. Bank*, 387 S.C. 95, 105, 691 S.E.2d 158, 163 (2010)(discussing the writing requirement of 37-10-107, which “is essentially a statute of frauds”). Yet, the Complaint clearly admits that the only alleged binding contract between the parties, the Commitment, was not executed. (*Compare* R. p. 35, ¶ 12 (“with the exception of the execution of the Commitment which the parties agreed would be done at Closing”) *with* R. p. 37, ¶ 30 (“As set forth more fully above, Defendants breached the terms of the Commitment by failing to close the transaction contemplated”) *and* R. p. 37, ¶ 25 (“The Commitment constituted a binding contract”). This fundamental deficiency in the allegations pled by Partners 95 is fatal to their breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act claim – the only claim for which actual damages were awarded.

Partners 95 do not appear to dispute the need for the Commitment to be signed, despite pleading to the contrary. Indeed, they introduced evidence at the damages hearing – for the first time – of a signed Commitment. (R. p. 213, lines 5-24; pp. 264-273). Although Partners 95 initially requested amendment of their Complaint to conform to that evidence, (R. p. 219, lines 1-4), they quickly withdrew their request to amend once Lenders argued that an amendment to the substance of Partners 95’s allegations would trigger Lenders’ right to answer, (R. p. 219, lines 5-11).

But Partners 95 cannot have their cake and eat it too. Either the Special Referee was without authority of law to award damages because the Commitment was unexecuted

as pled in Paragraph 12 of the Complaint (and therefore no binding contract between the parties existed), *or* the Judgment Order must be vacated because Partners 95 must amend their Complaint to state a valid cause of action and permit Lenders the opportunity to answer.<sup>3</sup>

Further, the testimony regarding the executed Commitment was unclear at best. Mr. Hartman, when asked if he executed the Commitment letter, was uncertain. “So I did sign something. Whether that was a full-blown commitment, I’m not sure what we’re talking about.” (R. p. 204, line 10 – p. 205, line 11). Also, a review of the Commitment Letter shows a printed date at the top of the signature page of December 12, 2014, but the handwritten date beside Mr. Hartman’s signature is December 9, 2014. The discrepancy in dates is one more item that makes it unclear whether or not Mr. Hartman did – in fact – sign the Commitment Letter in a timely fashion and provide the same to Riverdale.

It should also be noted that Lenders argued, as a meritorious defense at the Hearing on the Entry of Default on November 4, 2015, that the statement in the Complaint that the Commitment was unexecuted violated the Lenders Statute of Frauds. (R. p. 137, lines 4-20; pp. 138-139, lines 20-3). There was no rebuttal or mention from Partners 95’s attorney that the Commitment was in fact executed.

The record is clear: The allegations as pled in the Complaint did not state a claim for breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act upon which relief could be granted because Partners 95 admitted the Commitment was not signed and, by operation of law and the clear terms of the Commitment itself, no binding contract existed. The

---

<sup>3</sup> Although the case law is clear that a defaulting party has admitted liability for the cognizable claims stated in the Complaint, *see Solley supra*, that does not give the plaintiff *carte blanche* to amend its claims during the damages hearing to state valid claims where none existed in the first instance. The scope of liability admitted by default is the Complaint as it exists at the time of entry of default.

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