THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable W. Haigh Porter, Special Referee

RECEIVED

DEC 12 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2015-CP-33-280
Appellate Case No. 2016-000956

PARTNERS 95, LLC and HSGCHG Investments, LLC Respondents,

v.

Riverdale Funding, LLC and Woodbridge Mortgage Investment Fund 3, LLC Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

George Albert Taylor
PO Box 1390
Columbia SC 29203

(803) 404-6900

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

ARGUMENTS

I. APPELLANTS HAVE FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW MANY OF THEIR ARGUMENTS.

² Contrary to Appellant's assertions on page 7 of their Brief, "they didn't have to replace the poles." (February 8, 2016 Transcript P. 82, L. 2-3).

In their Brief, Appellants make many arguments that concern issues not preserved for appellate review. First, Appellants argue that Respondents failed to plead entitlement to actual damages (Appellants' Brief at 9-14) and Respondents failed to plead ultimate facts to support a punitive damages award (Appellants' Brief at 27-29). However, Appellants failed to object at the hearing to the introduction *any* evidence on the basis that it was outside the facts pled in the Complaint. See generally (February 8, 2016 Transcript) (R. pp. 140-228).

Appellants also argue that the punitive damage award violates the 14th Amendment for two reasons. As set forth more fully below, these arguments are also not preserved for appellate review.

An appellant may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003). In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the lower court. Anonymous v. State Board of Medical Examiners, 323 S.C. 360, 473 S.E.2d 870, 879 (Ct. App. 1996). It is the responsibility of counsel to preserve issues for appellate review. E.g. State v. Rivers, 411 S.C. 551, 555 n.2, 769 S.E.2d 263 n2 (2015). (Reminding the bar that “our appellate courts have consistently refused to apply the plain error rule and it is the responsibility of counsel to preserve issues for appellate review”). If a party fails to object to testimony when it was initially offered, the party waives their right to argue error on appeal. Campbell v. Jordan, 382 S.C. 445, 453, 675 S.E.2d 801, 805-6 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing City of Greenville v. Bryant, 257 S.C. 448, 454, 186 S.E.2d 236, 238 (1972) (stating that failure to timely object to introduction of evidence constituted waiver of argument on appeal) and citing Parr v. Gaines, 309 S.C. 447, 481, 424 S.E.2d 515, 518 (Ct. App. 1992) (quoting “[a]lthough limited exceptions exist, objections to the admission of evidence must be made when evidence is presented at trial to preserve the error for appeal”)).

The record must show that the issue was raised to the trial court, and any issue not raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge is not preserved for appeal. Zaman v. S.C. Bd. Of Med. Examrs., 305 S.C. 646, 594 S.E.2d 462 (2004); I'On v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000) (stating that parties should raise all necessary issues and arguments to trial court and attempt to obtain a ruling).

Failure to make a proper contemporaneous objection to the admission of evidence cannot be later bootstrapped to a post-trial motion. State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 226, 284 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1981) (“failure to contemporaneously object to the question [appealed from] cannot be later bootstrapped by a motion for mistrial”); Solley v. Navy Fed. Credit Union, Inc., 397 S.C. 192, 203, 723 S.E.2d 597, 602 (Ct. App. 2012) (“The [Defendant] first raised this issue in its Rule 59(e), SCRCF, or in the alternative Rule 60(b), SCRCF, motion to reconsider and to set aside judgment, after damages were awarded and the default judgment had been entered . . . [a]ccordingly, this issue is not preserved for our review.”).

These preservation rules apply to appeals from special referees, see Springob v. Farrar, 334 S.C. 585, 514 S.E.2d 135 (Ct. App. 1999) (cert. denied), and to constitutional arguments made for the first time on appeal. See Durlach v. Durlach, 359 S.C. 64, 596 S.E.2d 908 (2004) (due process claim raised for the first time on appeal not preserved).

Furthermore, a general objection will not suffice. “Ordinarily, a general objection which does not specify the particular ground on which the objection is based is insufficient to preserve a question for appellate review.” State v. Taylor, 333 S.C. 159, 508 S.E.2d 870 (1998); 4 C.J.S. Appeal & Error § 215 (1993). An objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge. See S.C. Dept. of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 641 S.E.2d 903 (2007); see

also Jean Hofer Toal, Shahin Vafai & Robert A. Muckenfuss, Appellate Practice in South Carolina 65 (2nd ed. 2002) ("The objection must be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge").

A. Appellants Failed to Preserve their Argument that Respondent Failed to Properly Plead.

Appellants argue that the Complaint fails to state a cause of action for breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act. (Appellant's Brief at 9-10, 14). Appellants also argue that Respondents failed to plead ultimate facts to support a punitive damages award (Appellants' Brief at 27-29). However, Appellants failed to object, make a motion for dismissal or otherwise address these arguments at or prior to the hearing held on February 8, 2016. *See* (February 8, 2016 Hearing Transcript)(R. pp. 140-228). All that Appellants argued at the hearing is:

Ms. Hill: I think the law is well settled that they have to prove their damages even if we were in default, and they have to prove them with specificity, and they have to prove them to a preponderance of the evidence. And in this situation I don't believe they have proven, met their threshold for punitive damages. I have arguments as to the other damages as well, but certainly punitive damages.

They haven't proven that there was any fraud. They haven't proven that that was – that actually occurred. So, you know, they didn't prove that they've hit all the contingencies in the letter. You know, had they hit all the contingencies, perhaps there would have been but they haven't proved that, in order to prove their damages. So that's our position at least with regard to the punitive damages.

(February 8, 2016 Hearing Transcript P. 84-85) (R. pp. 223-224).

Appellants simply argued that Respondents failed to *prove*, rather than *plead* their damages. While a default does not waive an objection that the complaint does not state facts sufficient to state a cause of action, Masters v. Rodgers Development Group, 283 SC 251, 254, 321 S.E.2d 194, 196 (1984), failure to timely object does waive such an objection. It was not until their post-trial briefing that Appellants, for the first time and in an attempt to boot-strap arguments not previously presented, made any sort of argument as to the adequacy of Respondents' pleading.

Appellants failed to object contemporaneously, but waited until post-trial to complain, therefore failing to preserve these issues. Campbell, 382 S.C. at 453, 675 S.E.2d at 805-06; Lynn, 277 S.C. at 226, 284 S.E.2d at 789. Now on appeal, Appellants argue that the cause of action was not properly pled and that the punitive damages were not properly pled. These arguments are not preserved for appellate review.

Additionally, at the hearing, Appellants failed to object to the admission of any evidence which they now contend is outside the pleadings in this action³. See (February 8, 2016 Transcript) (R. pp. 140-228). To the extent Appellants now complain to the admission of that evidence, that argument is likewise not preserved for appellate review. Therefore, Appellants waived any complaint as to the facts introduced at the hearing, without objection, being outside the facts plead in the Complaint. Campbell, *supra*. This is not a situation in which the party now appealing a lower court's order did not participate at the hearing. To the contrary, Appellants fully participated in the hearing through counsel by cross examining witnesses, and allowing evidence to be introduced without objection.

B. Appellants Failed to Preserve their Argument that the Punitive Damages Award Violates Lenders 14th Amendment Rights and Violates the South Carolina Constitution.

Appellants argue on appeal that the special referee's award of punitive damages violates the Lenders' 14th Amendment rights because Respondents failed to distinguish between the individual lenders. (Appellants' Brief at 33-38). Appellants additionally argue that the punitive damage award is excessive. (Appellants' Brief at 38-40). Appellants argue that the Special Referee's failure to apportion the punitive damages award between Respondents violated the procedural due process provided by Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution because it did

³ As discussed more thoroughly *supra*, a litigant must plead the ultimate facts which will be proved at trial, not the evidence which will be used to prove those facts. Clark v. Clark, 293 S.C. 415, 416, 361 S.E.2d 328, 328 (1987).

not impose punitive damages on the basis of individual culpability. (Appellants' Brief at 40). These arguments, however, were not made at the February 8, 2016, hearing, and were not included in Defendant's Response to Plaintiffs' Presentment of Damages or in Response to Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiff's Damages. Appellants raised these issue for the first time in their post judgment Memorandum Pursuant to SCRCF 52, 59, 60, and 62. Prior to the judgment, neither argument was ever presented to the Special Referee for a ruling. Consequently, the arguments are not preserved for appeal and should not be considered.

In their Response to Plaintiffs' Presentment of Damages dated February 25, 2016, Appellants fail to raise the issue of punitive damages at all. In their Response to Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiff's Damages dated March 1, 2016, Appellants argue that Respondents failed to show they are entitled to punitive damages. Although this Response raises the issue of punitive damages, it did not raise it for the same reasons argued on appeal. Here, Appellants are attempting to argue one ground at trial and another on appeal. Furthermore, at the February 8, 2016, damages hearing Appellants objected to punitive damages but they did so generally. When the court asked counsel for the Appellants what they had to say about punitive damages all that Appellants made the above quoted argument. These general objections to punitive damages are not sufficiently specific and do not reference the Constitution therefore Appellants failed to preserve these arguments for appeal. These arguments were also not included in Defendant's Response to Plaintiffs' Presentment of Damages or in Response to Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiff's Damages and were raised for the first time in their post judgment Memorandum Pursuant to SCRCF 52, 59, 60, and 62. Prior to the judgment, neither argument was ever presented to the Special Referee for a ruling. Therefore, these arguments, like

Appellants' argument regarding the sufficiency of Respondent's pleadings, are not preserved for appeal and should not be considered.

II. THE SPECIAL REFEREE COMMITTED NO ERROR IN AWARDING ACTUAL DAMAGES TO RESPONDENTS.

A. Standard of Review.

An appellate court's scope of review for a case heard by a master-in-equity or special referee who enters a final judgment is the same as that for review of a case heard by a circuit court without a jury. See Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Agro, Inc., 301 S.C. 229, 237, 391 S.E.2d 538, 543 (1990). In an action at law referred to a master or special referee for final judgment, appellate courts will correct errors of law, but must affirm the master's or referee's factual findings unless **no evidence** reasonably supports those findings. Townes Associates, Ltd. v. Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976) (stating the rule for actions at law tried by a judge is the same "whether the judge's findings are made with or without[] a reference") (emphasis added). On review of an action at law tried without jury, the appellate court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the respondents and eliminate from consideration all evidence to the contrary. Solley v. Navy Fed. Credit Union, Inc., 397 S.C. 192, 202, 723 S.E.2d 597, 602 (Ct. App. 2012). Furthermore, the appellant is not relieved of the burden of convincing this court the special referee committed legal error in his findings. Pinckney v. Warren, 344 S.C. 382, 388, 544 S.E.2d 620, 623 (2001).

A trial judge has considerable discretion regarding the amount of damages, both actual and punitive. See Solley, 397 S.C. at 203, 723 S.E.2d at 602. Because of this discretion, the review on appeal is limited to the correction of errors of law. Id. An appellate court's task in reviewing a damages award is not to weigh the evidence, but to determine if there is any evidence to support the damages award. Id.

The power to set aside a default judgment lies within the sole discretion of the trial court and will not be disrupted on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion. Richardson v. P.V., Inc., 383 S.C. 610, 682 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2009). “An abuse of discretion in setting aside a default judgment occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Hill v. Dotts, 345 S.C. 304, 307, 547 S.E.2d 894, 896 (Ct. App. 2001). As long as the Special Referee’s decision was not based on an error of law and there is some evidentiary basis for his factual conclusions, the Special Referee did not abuse his discretion, and this Court should affirm the award of actual damages.

B. Respondents Correctly Pled Entitlement to Actual Damages⁴.

Appellants argue that default does not preclude a defendant from challenging the sufficiency of the complaint allegations as a basis for the judgment entered in this case, because an objection that the complaint does not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action is not waived by default. (Appellants’ Brief at 9, 10). However, Appellants’ reliance on this rule is misguided because Appellants never, prior to or at the hearing, made a motion to challenge the sufficiency of the allegations in the pleadings. Appellants failed to take the requisite step of filing a motion to dismiss for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 12(b)(6), or otherwise argue to the trial court at or prior to the hearing that the Complaint failed to state sufficient facts.

i. Respondents Correctly Pled Their Breach of Contract Accompanied by a Fraudulent Act Cause of Action and Properly Alleged a Breach of Contract.

⁴ Although this argument is not preserved for appellate review, Respondents address this argument for the Court’s convenience

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